# Uldaho Law **Digital Commons** @ **Uldaho Law**

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

11-28-2014

## Charney v. Charney Appellant's Brief Dckt. 42165

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

#### A. Nature of the Case.

This case began as a divorce case in 2011, in which a Property Settlement Agreement (hereinafter "PSA") was entered into by the parties. Because of several violations of the PSA, Appellant Dennis Charney (hereinafter "Dennis") brought a motion for contempt for five separate counts against Respondent Judy Charney (hereinafter "Judy"). Dennis brought a partial motion for summary judgment on Counts One and Five of the motion for contempt, which the magistrate found was improper because he construed the contempt counts as criminal rather than civil. After Count Five was dismissed *sua sponte* by the magistrate, Dennis ultimately voluntarily dismissed the remaining four counts without prejudice.

Despite the voluntary dismissal without prejudice, Judy was awarded attorney fees and costs as the prevailing party, and also because the magistrate deemed Dennis' motion for partial summary judgment to be frivolous. Dennis appealed to the district court, which affirmed the magistrate's decision to award attorney fees under Idaho Code § 7-610, but declined to review the magistrate's award under I.C. § 12-123. This appeal followed.

#### B. Statement of Facts and Course of Proceedings.

On October 28, 2011, a Partial Judgment and Decree Re: Property and Debt was entered. The PSA entered into by the parties was attached thereto as Exhibit 1. On May 11, 2012, Dennis filed a Verified Motion Re: Contempt, and on June 8, 2012, he filed a Verified Amended Motion Re: Contempt. R. Vol. I., pp. 12-19. The amended motion alleged five counts: Count One APPELLANT'S BRIEF – Page 1

involved an unpaid bill to JB Landscaping; Count Two alleged that Judy continued to incur credit card charges on a joint account after the entry of the PSA; Count Three related to Judy's refusal to close the joint credit card account; Count Four alleged that Judy failed to repair the damage that resulted to Dennis' credit rating; and Count Five involved Judy's misappropriation of a Costco rebate check. R. Vol. 1, pp. 74-81.

In the course of the contempt proceedings, Dennis brought a motion for summary judgment for Counts One and Five. As to Count One, Dennis was seeking a requirement that Judy be required to pay the JB Landscaping bill, which is clearly a civil sanction. As to Count Five, even though criminal sanctions might have been appropriate for the misappropriation of the Costco rebate check, Dennis repeatedly indicated in briefing and at the hearing that he was instead seeking an injunction, which is clearly a civil sanction under Idaho law.

In the summary judgment hearing, despite Dennis' repeated insistence that he was seeking merely civil sanctions for contempt Counts One and Five, the magistrate found that the entire contempt proceeding was a criminal, rather than civil, contempt and therefore a motion for summary judgment was inappropriate. The magistrate denied Dennis' motion for partial summary judgment on Counts One and Five, either because they were criminal contempts or because unresolved issues of material fact remained. R. Vol. 1, pp. 400-401, (also contained in the supplemental record pursuant to the Court's Order augmenting the record, dated Oct. 1, 2014). Additionally, the magistrate utilized the summary judgment hearing to dismiss Count Five *sua sponte*, finding that while Judy did violate the PSA in using the Costco rebate check, Dennis had suffered no loss, so the count was *de minimis*. *Id*. In dismissing Count Five, the

magistrate specifically found that neither party was to be considered the prevailing party as to this count. *Id*.

After the summary judgment and prior to trial, Dennis moved to voluntarily dismiss the remaining four counts (Counts One through Four) without prejudice, to which Judy did not object. Because the order of dismissal did not state whether the dismissal was with or without prejudice, the dismissal was deemed without prejudice. R. Vol. pp. 252-253, Tr. Apr. 9, 2013, pp. 5-6, LL. 6-18<sup>1</sup>. There was no discussion at the hearing regarding attorney fees. *Id.* Judy then filed a Motion for Attorneys Fees and Memorandum and Affidavit of Attorneys Fees and Costs in which she requested fees under I.C. §§ 12-121, 12-123, 7-610, and I.R.C.P. 54(e). R. Vol. 1, pp. 254-294.

Over Dennis' objection, the magistrate entered a Judgment for attorney fees and costs of \$8,976.10 on July 17, 2013, in favor of Judy as the "prevailing party" under I.C. § 7-610. R. Vol. 1, pp. 348-350. This amount represented all fees incurred by Judy in defending against the contempt proceeding, with the exception of fees incurred specifically regarding Count Five, and for fees incurred in bringing the motion for fees. *Id.*; Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 82-96, LL. 17-12. The magistrate also awarded attorney fees pursuant to I.C. § 12-123 for the fees incurred in defending the "frivolous" motion for summary judgment, although an exact amount was never specified.

\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The original transcript which was prepared for the appeal to the district court encompasses three separate hearing dates, and is continuously paginated: the hearing on Dennis' motion for partial summary judgment on January 15, 2013; the pretrial conference on March 23, 2013; and the hearing on Judy's motion for attorney fees on July 16, 2013. This transcript will be referred to as "Tr. Vol. 1." Because other hearings were subsequently transcribed individually, and not continuously paginated, these hearings will be referred to by specific date so as to avoid confusion, *i.e.* "Tr. (date)."

R. Vol. 1, pp. 348-350, Tr. Vol. 1, p. 78-79, 7-7. The magistrate declined to award attorney fees under I.C. § 12-121 and I.R.C.P. 54(e), because he determined that some of Dennis' claims had merit. R. Vol. 1, pp. 349, Tr. Vol. 1, pp. 75-78, LL.23-6.

On August 5, 2013, Dennis appealed the magistrate's award of attorney fees under I.C. § 7-610 on the basis that Judy could not have been a "prevailing party" due to Dennis' voluntary dismissal of the remaining four counts without prejudice. Additionally, Dennis appealed the partial award of attorney fees under I.C. § 12-123 because the magistrate incorrectly viewed the contempt action as criminal rather than civil<sup>2</sup>.

In its Memorandum Decision and Order of April 14, 2014, the district court affirmed the magistrate's award of attorney fees under Idaho Code Section 7-610, but declined to decide whether the award under I.C. § 12-123 was proper. R. Vol. 1, 484-495. In so declining, the district court allowed the magistrate's decision in this regard to stand. Additionally, in its Memorandum Decision and Order, the district court did not address Judy's request for attorney fees as required under I.A.R. 41(c). *Id*.

Judy then filed a memorandum of attorney fees and costs on April 22, 2014, to which Dennis objected pursuant to I.A.R. 41 and 35. The district court declined to award attorney fees under I.C. § 12-121, because the issue of whether Judy could be deemed a prevailing party after a voluntary dismissal without prejudice had not been determined in Idaho. The district court also declined to award attorney fees under I.C. § 12-123, because that statute does not apply on appeal. However, the court did award attorney fees to Judy, in the amount of \$9,297.50, based

-

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> Other issues were presented on appeal at the district court level which were not pursued here.

APPELLANT'S BRIEF – Page 4

on I.C. § 7-610, despite the fact that Judy did not request fees on this basis in her first appellate brief as required by I.A.R. 41 and 35.

Following the order awarding attorney fees, Judy filed a motion to supplement or amend the order, in response to which Dennis objected and filed his own motion for reconsideration. The district court denied both motions on September 4, 2014. Defendant timely filed his notice of appeal.

II.

#### ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL

- A. Whether the district court erred in affirming the magistrate court's determination that a voluntary dismissal without prejudice conferred prevailing party status for purposes of an award of attorney fees under I.C. § 7-610.
- B. Whether the district court erred in failing to address, and allowing to stand, the magistrate's determination that a motion for partial summary judgment was frivolous and that an award of attorney fees was appropriate under I.C. § 12-123.
- C. Whether the district court erred in awarding Judy attorney fees on appeal under I.C. § 7-610.
- D. Whether the district court erred in denying Dennis' motion for reconsideration regarding the award of attorney fees under I.C. § 7-610.
- E. Whether Dennis is entitled to an award of attorney fees on appeal pursuant to I.C. § 7-610.

#### III.

#### STANDARD OF REVIEW

When reviewing the decision of a district court sitting in its appellate capacity, the following standard of review applies:

The Supreme Court reviews the trial court (magistrate) record to determine whether there is substantial and competent evidence to support the magistrate's findings of fact and whether the magistrate's conclusions of law follow from those findings. If those findings are so supported and the conclusions follow therefrom and if the district court affirmed the magistrate's decision, we affirm the district court's decision as a matter of procedure.

Pelayo v. Pelayo, 154 Idaho 855, 858-859, 303 P.3d 214 (2013) (quoting Bailey v. Bailey, 153 Idaho 526, 529, 284 P.3d 970, 973 (2012) (quoting Losser v. Bradstreet, 145 Idaho 670, 672, 183 P.3d 758, 760 (2008)).

"Thus, this Court does not review the decision of the magistrate court. 'Rather, [the Court is] "procedurally bound to affirm or reverse the decisions of the district court."" *Id.* ((quoting *Bailey*, 153 Idaho at 529, 284 P.3d at 973) (quoting *State v. Korn*, 148 Idaho 413, 415 n.1, 224 P.3d 480, 482 n.1 (2009)).

A court's determination of prevailing party status is reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard.

When examining whether a trial court abused its discretion, this Court considers whether the court: (1) perceived the issue as one of discretion; (2) acted within the outer boundaries of this discretion and consistently within the applicable legal standards; and (3) reached its decision by an exercise of reason. "A determination on prevailing parties is committed to the discretion of the trial court."

Crump v. Bromley, 148 Idaho 172, 173, 219 P.3d 1188 (2009) (citing Shore v. Peterson, 146 Idaho 903, 915, 204 P.3d 1114, 1126 (2009)).

A court's award of attorney fees under I.C. § 12-123 is also reviewed under an abuse of discretion standard. *Ackerman v. Bonneville Co.*, 140 Idaho 307, 313, 92 P.3d 557 (Ct.App. 2004) (citing *Sun Valley Shopping Ctr., v. Idaho Power Co.*, 119 Idaho 87, 94, 803 P.2d 993, 1000 (1991)).

#### IV.

#### **ARGUMENT**

- A. THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN AFFIRMING THE MAGISTRATE COURT'S DETERMINATION THAT A VOLUNTARY DISMISSAL WITHOUT PREJUDICE CONFERRED PREVAILING PARTY STATUS FOR PURPOSES OF AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES UNDER I.C. § 7-610.
  - 1. Judy Was Not a Prevailing Party Due to Dennis' Dismissal Without Prejudice.

Under I.C. § 7-610, a prevailing party can be awarded attorney fees in the discretion of the trial court. The question here is whether Judy was in fact a "prevailing party" when Dennis had dismissed his remaining contempt claims voluntarily without prejudice prior to trial.

The term "prevailing party" is addressed in I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B) as follows:

In determining which party to an action is a prevailing party and entitled to costs, the trial court shall in its sound discretion consider the *final judgment or result of the action* in relation to the relief sought by the respective parties. The trial court in its sound discretion may determine that a party to an action prevailed in part and did not prevail in part, and upon so finding may apportion the costs between and among the parties in a fair and equitable manner after considering all of the issues and claims involved in the action and the *resultant judgment or judgments obtained*.

I.R.C.P. 54(d)(1)(B) (emphasis added).

The magistrate concluded that Judy was the prevailing party under I.C. § 7-610, even though Count Five of the motion for contempt had been dismissed *sua sponte* by the court, with

a finding that neither party prevailed, and when the remaining four counts had been voluntarily dismissed without prejudice by Dennis prior to the contempt trial. The district court affirmed this decision.

In his appeal to the district court, Dennis argued that because there was no final judgment or decision on the merits, an award of attorney fees and costs was improper, citing Justice Eismann's concurring opinion in *Straub v. Smith*, 145 Idaho 65, 175 P.3d 754 (2007).

In *Straub*, the parties had reached a stipulated dismissal with prejudice. The dismissal was silent as to the issue of attorney fees. The defendant sought attorney fees as the prevailing party, and the district court denied such an award. *Id.* at 67-68. This Court reversed and remanded, finding that the defendants did not waive their right to seek attorney fees as the prevailing party under I.C. § 12-120(3), and that the district court had abused its discretion in denying an award. In his concurring opinion, Justice Eismann agreed with the Court's decision, but wrote specially to clarify that the dismissal with prejudice could not have waived the defendant's ability to seek an award of attorney fees, but was instead a prerequisite to such an award. Justice Eismann stated:

Indeed, there can be no prevailing party until the merits of the lawsuit have been decided and there is a final judgment. A dismissal of an action "with prejudice" is simply an adjudication on the merits of the plaintiff's claim. In the instant case, there was no final judgment until the action was dismissed with prejudice. The dismissal of [plaintiff's] action with prejudice was a precondition to the [defendants'] right to recover court costs and attorney fees, not a denial of that right.

*Id.* at 72-73 (internal citations omitted). Accord, *Gibson v. Ada County Sheriff's Dept.*, 139 Idaho 5, 9, 72 P.3d 845, 849 (2003) ("The ACSD has not prevailed on the merits in this matter...

As a result, the matter is dismissed without prejudice and the ACSD is not a prevailing party entitled to attorney fees on appeal.").

The magistrate here disregarded *Straub*, stating,

There's no question in my mind that Ms. Charney is the sole prevailing party in this matter. I understand the argument Mr. Shoufler is made – making, based on miss – Justice Eismann's concurring decision, but that just simply can't be the law.

Tr. Vol. 1, p. 75, LL. 6-8. While there is no Idaho Supreme Court or Court of Appeals authority specifically stating that a voluntary dismissal without prejudice does not confer prevailing party status to the defendant, numerous cases in addition to *Straub* adhere to the same result.

The decision in *Straub* was filed in November 2007. Earlier in 2007, this Court had reached the opposite result as that in *Straub*, in analyzing whether fees were appropriate under the prevailing party analysis for I.C.§ 12-121. In *Puckett v. Verska*, 144 Idaho 161, 158 P.3d 937 (2007), a medical malpractice plaintiff had voluntarily dismissed one of her claims without prejudice on the second day of the trial. A mistrial was declared on the remaining claims due to the jury's inability to reach a verdict. After the mistrial, the district court denied the defendant's claim for an award of attorney fees and costs, stating that the defendant was not yet a prevailing party. *Id.* at 165.

At the second trial, the plaintiff prevailed and the district court awarded her claimed discretionary costs. Among other issues, Defendant appealed this award, and also appealed the district court's refusal to award his costs and fees to defend against the dismissed claim after the first trial. This Court upheld the district court's determination that neither party had prevailed

after the first trial because no final judgment had been entered and the plaintiff was still free to pursue the previously dismissed claim. *Id.* at 170.

The difference in results between *Straub* and *Puckett*, which decisions were made less than a year apart, turned solely on whether the voluntary dismissal had been made with or without prejudice. In *Straub*, the stipulated dismissal was *with* prejudice, and the district court's refusal to award fees was reversed. In *Puckett*, the dismissal had been made *without* prejudice, and the district court's refusal to award fees was deemed proper. In both *Straub* and *Puckett*, the dismissals were silent as to an award of attorney fees.

The contrast between *Straub* and *Puckett* was carefully analyzed in the U.S. District Court of Idaho case of *Kugler v. Bohus*, 2009 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 84190 (Sept. 15, 2009). In that case, a *pro se* plaintiff dismissed his complaint based upon a stipulation with the defendant pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41(a)(1)(A)(ii)<sup>3</sup>. The stipulation was silent as to whether the dismissal was with or without prejudice. *Id.* at \*4-5. Due to a snafu in the court, the stipulation was initially treated as a motion, and the case dismissed with prejudice under F.R.C.P. 41(a)(2) rather than as a stipulated dismissal pursuant to F.R.C.P. 41(a)(1)(A)(ii). *Id.* at \*7. Addressing this error first, the district court indicated that indeed the case had been dismissed pursuant to F.R.C.P. 41(a)(1)(A)(ii), and because the stipulation was silent as to the issue of prejudice, the dismissal was without prejudice. *Id.* at \*7-9.

\_\_

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 41 is nearly identical to Idaho Rule of Civil Procedure 41.

Next, in addressing the defendant's request for attorney fees,<sup>4</sup> the district court discussed the facts in *Straub* and *Puckett* in detail, and found the distinction between a dismissal with prejudice and without prejudice to be "crucial" in determining whether an award of attorney fees could be made. *Id.* at \*12-14. Therefore, because the dismissal in *Kugler* had been without prejudice, and the stipulation did not address an award of fees, the defendant was not entitled to attorney fees as the "prevailing party." *Id.* at \*15. The district court indicated that because no final judgment was entered and there was no final adjudication of the claims, the defendant was not a "prevailing party" entitled to attorney fees under I.C. § 12-121. *Id.* 

This Court has also recently upheld a district court's denial of attorney fees based upon a prevailing party analysis under I.C. § 12-120(3), after the plaintiffs had been granted a new trial, stating:

We hold that the district court correctly held that any determination as to a prevailing party is premature until the [plaintiffs'] claim of breach of the implied warranty of habitability is resolved.

Goodspeed v. Shippen, 154 Idaho 866, 873, 303 P.3d 225 (2013) (internal citations omitted). This decision is consistent with *Straub*, *Puckett*, and *Kugler*, and reiterates the necessity for a final judgment of some sort, or a decision on the merits, prior to an award of attorney fees based on a prevailing party determination.

Recent cases from other federal and state jurisdictions have also applied a similar analysis as that in *Straub*, *Puckett*, and *Kugler*. For instance, even though the defendant had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> The federal district court was sitting in diversity in *Kugler*, and applied the law of the forum state, Idaho, regarding the award of attorney fees. *Id.* at \*10.

been successful in obtaining a dismissal without prejudice of the plaintiff's claim due to plaintiff's failure to comply with a mandatory mediation provision, a court held that defendant was not a prevailing party under the North Carolina statutes, and therefore not entitled to attorney fees. This was true because the court "did not determine a claim or issue in the case." *Hometown Servs. v. EquityLock Solutions, Inc.*, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 148613, \*\*5-7 (W.D.N.C. October 20, 2014).

In Sparks Pita Store #1, LLC v. Pita Pit, Inc., 2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 6720 (U.S. Dist. Ct. D. Nev. January 14, 2010), the Nevada federal district court was faced with an attorney fees request by defendants who had prevailed in their motion to dismiss due to improper venue. The court found that the laws of both Idaho and New York governed such an award. The court found that under neither Idaho nor New York statutes could the defendants be considered prevailing parties, because the dismissal was without prejudice. Id. at \*7-8. In construing Idaho law, the court specifically cited the concurring opinion in Straub for the proposition that "[g]enerally, there is no prevailing party unless the merits of the lawsuit have been decided and there is a final judgment." Id., citing Straub, 145 Idaho at 72, 175 P.3d at 761. The court found that "[t]here has been no final judgment or final adjudication of Plaintiffs' claims," and thus no prevailing party. Id.

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