UIdaho Law Digital Commons @ UIdaho Law

Idaho Supreme Court Records & Briefs

12-29-2014

Charney v. Charney Respondent's Brief Dckt. 42165

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

Idaho 65 (2007). Dennis cites to the statement in <u>Gibson</u> "as a result the matter is dismissed without prejudice and the ACSD is not a prevailing party entitled to attorneys fees or costs on appeal". <u>Gibson</u>, supra, was not a voluntary dismissal case. The phrase "as a result" is the key to a denial of ACSD's attorney fee request on appeal. Gibson's appeal to the Supreme Court was dismissed because her termination from ACSD was not reviewable. Attorneys fees were denied to ACSD because ACSD told Gibson that she had the right to appeal to the District Court, which was false and left the Supreme Court without jurisdiction to review the District Court decision.

The federal magistrate's decision in <u>Kugler v. Bohus</u>, 2009 U.S. Dist., Lexis 84190, Sept. 15, 2009, is not controlling. In <u>Kugler</u>, a pro-se Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed his action by stipulation upon his signature and the signature of defense counsel, and since it did not state it was with prejudice, by rule the dismissal was without prejudice. The U.S. District Court had previously erred and treated it as a Motion. The federal magistrate properly held in <u>Kugler</u> that in determining who was a prevailing party, the Court shall in its sound discretion consider the final judgment or result of the action in relation to the relief sought by the respective parties. The magistrate was in error when she stated that generally there is no prevailing party unless the merits of the law suit have been decided and there is a final judgment. That was not what was stated in the majority decision by Justice Burdick, Justice Jones, or by Justice Horton. There was a final judgment in <u>Straub</u>, supra, at p. 71. See <u>Rohr v. Rohr</u>, 118 Idaho 689 (1990). Rather, the language quoted by the federal magistrate came from the concurring opinion in <u>Straub</u>. <u>Kugler v. Bohus</u>, supra, does not stand for the proposition that attorneys fees must be denied against a Plaintiff who dismissed without prejudice. The magistrate held that Dr. Bohus was not a prevailing party since no final judgment had

been entered. Here, a final judgment was entered. The result in <u>Kugler</u> may have been driven by the court's error in treating a stipulation as a motion to the prejudice of a pro-se litigant.

If <u>Kugler</u>, supra, is cited for the proposition that attorneys fees can never be awarded to a defendant when a plaintiff voluntarily dismisses, that simply cannot be law in a contempt case. The purpose of the court's discretionary authority under I.R.C.P. 41(a)(2) is to insure that the court pays due regard to both the Plaintiff and Defendant. Parkside Schools, Inc. v. Bronco Elite Arts & Athletics, 145 Idaho 176 (2008). To absolutely bar attorneys fees to a defendant when plaintiff on the eve of trial decides to finally voluntarily dismiss his contempt case, is seriously counter-intuitive because it creates future mischief in a contempt action that is prejudicial to a defendant who prevailed and conflicts with Jones v. Berezay, 120 Idaho 332 (1991) observation which stated, "although costs and attorneys fees are often imposed upon a plaintiff who is granted a voluntary dismissal..." Jones v. Berezay, at p. 336. Moreover, Dennis could not re-file his contempt action because it is barred by the statute of limitation. With reference to Goodspeed v. Shippen, 154 Idaho 866, 873 (2013), attorneys fees could not be awarded to a defendant because a remand had been ordered in the appeal. Here, under <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-610, Dennis cannot re-file a criminal contempt as it is time-barred. Whether or not Dennis could file a civil contempt is irrelevant to the attorney fee award below and is also not germane as to whether Judy was the prevailing party in this criminal contempt action.

Dennis was clearly on notice that Judy sought her attorneys fees and costs, and he is not legally entitled to file a notice of voluntary dismissal in an <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-610 case and have the absolute right to escape such an award where he caused \$8,976.10 in attorneys fees and costs. Judy requested

attorneys fees under <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-610, <u>I.C.</u>, §12-121, <u>I.R.C.P.</u> 54, and other applicable law including <u>I.C.</u>, § 12-123, and <u>I.R.C.P.</u> 75(m). Judy is the prevailing party per Rule 54(d)(1)(B), <u>I.R.C.P.</u>, after considering the final judgment or result of the action in relation to the relief sought by the respective parties and after considering all of the issues and claims involved in the action and the resultant judgment obtained.

The **result of the action in relation to the relief sought** by the Appellant is clear. <u>Stewart v. Rice</u>, 120 Idaho 504, 510 (1991). Appellant had requested in two contempt motions, that Respondent be found guilty of contempt on five counts, which she was not. On the other hand, **Respondent prevailed in the relief that she requested on June 22, 2012**, in her Affidavit at p. 14 (R. 141) and in her Notice of Affirmative Defenses at p. 7, (R. 163), and that Dennis' Motion for Contempt be dismissed and that "**he take nothing thereby**". Contrary to Dennis' argument of public policy found in part 3 on page 15 of Appellant's Brief, a potential problem will arise if the concurring opinion in <u>Straub</u>, supra, is read to bar an attorney fee award, as it would take away statutorily conferred discretion. <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-610. Second, it would give a plaintiff the right to run up a defendant's attorneys fees, and one day before trial dismiss the contempt case without prejudice, and thereby bar defendant from being made whole. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 57, L. 10-15; Tr. Vol. 3, p. 34, L. 4-5.

APPELLANT'S CRIMINAL CONTEMPT MOTIONS

WERE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF LIMITATIONS

Hinging upon the assertion that his Motions for Contempt were civil, rather than criminal, Dennis argues that he could re-file the same at a later date and not have criminal statute of limitation problem. The premise is incorrect, given the magistrate's well thought-out legal analysis that Dennis sought criminal contempt in Count 5 in his Amended Motion. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 25, L. 8-10; Tr. p. 15, L. 8-24. Count 5 sought an unconditional penalty which made it a criminal contempt.¹⁰ <u>Camp v. East</u> <u>Fork Ditch Co., Ltd.</u>, 137 Idaho 850, 860 (2002).

When Appellant voluntarily dismissed his first motion for contempt, he dismissed the criminal contempts sought in counts 1, 2, 3 and 4. Count 1 was pled as a criminal contempt and was cautiously and properly treated as such by the Magistrate. R. 400. Appellant's Motion for Partial Summary Judgment was also denied because of material issues of fact in dispute, from which there has been no appeal. R. 100.

A criminal contempt under <u>I.C.</u>, Section 18-1801 is a misdemeanor and is more accurately the crime of contempt. <u>Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd.</u>, supra at 861. The statute of limitation was one year. <u>I.C.</u>, § 19-403. Neither the magistrate court or the district court misperceived or

В.

¹⁰ In Appellant's Brief filed in the District Court he wrote and **conceded** "the purpose of Mr. Charney's contempt claim 5 was to impose a sanction upon Mrs. Charney for a past failure to comply with a court order, but with the goal that she follow the PSA in the future." R. 386. Having conceded Count 5 was a criminal contempt, he should not now be heard in protest that it was really a civil sanction that he sought. "When the sanction is imposed to punish the contemnor for past acts, the contempt is criminal." <u>Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd.</u>, supra at 862.

misapplied the law regarding the statute of limitation, and **Dennis' refiling is barred by the one** year statute of limitation. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 75, L. 12-17.

It should be noted that in Appellant's initial brief to the District Court, Appellant did not raise the issue of statute of limitation as an issue on appeal, rather that issue was raised for the first time in Appellant's Reply Brief, which was improper. <u>Suitts v. Nix</u>, 141 Idaho 706, 708 (2005), "A reviewing court looks only to the initial brief on appeal for the issues presented because those are the arguments and authority to which the respondent has an opportunity to respond in the respondent's brief". <u>Suitts</u>, supra. In this matter the District Court noted that Appellant's assertion of additional issues was in his reply brief, R. 488, wherein he cited to <u>I.C.</u>, § 5-244, a civil statute of limitations, not the applicable criminal statute of limitations, <u>I.C.</u>, § 19-403. R. 468.

The argument in the District Court that there was no final judgment was also incorrect. Mr. Justice Burdick who wrote the decision in <u>Straub v. Smith</u>, supra, held that the order of dismissal, based upon a stipulation, was a final judgment. Supra at p. 71. The Order of Dismissal here was a final judgment.

The Magistrate and the District Court properly applied the law and although freely reviewed by the Supreme Court should be affirmed. The law was properly applied to the facts found and as such is to be upheld on appeal. <u>Stonecipher v. Stonecipher</u>, 131 Idaho 731, 734 (1998).

THE PUBLIC POLICY ARGUMENT THAT ATTORNEYS FEES PURSUANT TO I.C., §7-610 SHOULD NEVER BE AWARDED AGAINST A CLAIMANT WHO VOLUNTARILY DISMISSED THEIR CASE, IS UNWISE, AND WAS NOT RAISED AS A GROUND FOR APPEAL BEFORE THE DISTRICT COURT

Dennis urges that if a litigant is going to be subject to an award of attorneys fees whether he voluntarily dismisses without prejudice prior to trial, there would be no incentive to dismiss claims that have become economically infeasible to pursue. There is a potential risk of attorneys fees when a case is filed. Dennis should have thought about economic infeasibility before he sued for ill-conceived criminal contempt two months after the Decree was entered and is fortunate he is not held to a higher standard per <u>I.C.</u>, 12-123(b)(ii). He continues to march on with a second appeal and his third counsel. Dennis also unreasonably caused attorneys fees in connection with his Motion for Summary Judgment which lacked a good faith basis. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 50, L. 22 through p. 52, L. 9; Tr., Vol. 1, p. 78, L. 7-9. A public policy could just as easily be justified to award attorneys fees to discourage the unreasonable contempts and that such policy is already evident in <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-610. The legislature enacted <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-610 and it is public policy that a prevailing party in a contempt action may be awarded their costs and fees. The legislature enacted its policy beginning in 1881. See <u>I.C.</u>, § 7-601.

Finally, Appellant did not raise the public policy issue in his Notice of Appeal (R. 354) or his issues in his initial brief to the District Court. (R. 357-358). In fact, Dennis' brief to the District Court read, "the possibility of paying attorneys fees weighs into such a decision to dismiss claims, and the litigant may just have well decided to go through with the contempt hearing or not." R. 378. That statement does not appear to urge that Dennis was caught in a "hobson's choice". There are consequences for one's choice such as unwisely bringing two contempt motions in the first place. Having not raised this argument in his appeal to the District Court, it cannot be raised before the Supreme Court, even if the issues had been raised in the magistrate Court. <u>State v. Doe</u>, 144 Idaho 819, 822 (2007).

D.

THE TRIAL COURT COULD NOT GRANT SUMMARY JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ON A CRIMINAL CONTEMPT AND A

SECOND APPEAL FROM THAT RULING IS UNREASONABLE

On November 16, 2012 Appellant filed a Motion for Partial Summary Judgment, R. 169, for nonsummary contempt for Counts 1 and 5 of his Verified Amended Motion Re: Contempt filed June 8, 2012. R. 74. Dennis asserted that no genuine issue of material fact existed and that he was entitled to a judgment as a matter of law. R. 170. The Magistrate found otherwise. R. 400.

This issue is improperly brought before this Court because there was no appeal from the second ground in denying summary judgment, namely that there were material issues of facts in dispute. If this Court addresses the first ground that Dennis brought a criminal contempt as opposed to a civil contempt, he still fails in this appeal because he did not appeal from the other ground. R. 400.

The Verified Amended Motion for Contempt requested a criminal penalty-sanction. R. 16 and 79. Criminal penalties may not be imposed upon someone who has not been afforded the protections that the constitution requires of such criminal proceedings. <u>Hicks v. Feiock</u>, 485 U.S. 624, 632, 108 S.Ct. 1423, 1429-1430, 99 L.Ed.2d 721 (1988), cited in <u>Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co.</u>, <u>Ltd.</u>, 137 Idaho 850, 861 (2002). Judy filed a Memorandum in Opposition to Dennis' Motion for Summary Judgment which raised the issue, that the court did not have the ability to grant summary judgment and thereby deny Plaintiff her civil rights, citing Rules 75(h)(1) and (j), <u>LR.C.P.</u> Judy was entitled to a trial and to confront witnesses, and that all elements of contempt must be proven by Dennis beyond a reasonable doubt.¹¹ Judy's Memorandum stated that "[t]here [was] no procedure in the Idaho civil rules or the Idaho criminal rules which would permit summary judgment in a proceeding where imprisonment is requested plus attorneys fees." R. 217.

When both civil and criminal relief is imposed in the same proceeding, then the criminal feature of the order is dominant and fixes the character for purposes of review. <u>State of Idaho Dept.</u> <u>of Health and Welfare v. Slane</u>, 155 Idaho 274, 277 (2013). Here, Dennis sought criminal contempt on Count 5¹² against Judy for allegedly **misappropriating** an asset awarded to Dennis. R. 78.

¹¹ Judy's federal constitutional rights include but are not limited to (1) **notice that a criminal contempt sanction is being sought in contempt proceedings**, (2) the right to the presumption of innocence, (3) the privilege against self-incrimination, (4) the requirement that contempt be proved beyond a reasonable doubt, (5) the right to cross examine witnesses, call witnesses, and to testify in one's own behalf. <u>Camp v. East Fork Ditch Co., Ltd.</u>, supra. Rule 75(f), <u>I.R.C.P.</u> and Rule 75(j)(2), <u>I.R.C.P.</u>

¹² It is not clear from the Amended Motion for Contempt itself whether Count 1 pertaining to a J.B. Landscape invoice actually sought civil or criminal contempt since paragraph VII of Count 1 states "Plaintiff should be held in contempt for not paying the J.B. Landscape invoice in her name." R. 78. However, it is noted that Dennis' Memorandum filed November 16, 2012, five months after his initial contempt was filed, referred to civil contempt on Count 1 (R. 191) and criminal contempt on Count 5 (R. 194).

Dennis' Memorandum In Support of Partial Summary Judgment stated and Dennis therein bolded "criminal sanctions should be imposed as to Count 5". R. 194. The penalty section of the Verified Amended Motion Re: Contempt applied by its wording to "<u>each</u>" occurrence, namely Counts 1 and 5. R. 79.

At the hearing on Dennis' Motion for Partial Summary Judgment on Counts 1 and 5, Judy's attorney stated, "...I don't think that Judy can be deprived of her Constitutional rights by summary judgment". Tr., Vol. 1, p. 18, L. 6-12. Dennis' attorney, at the summary judgment hearing, inaccurately stated after alleging criminal penalties, "we're not asking for criminal penalties".¹³. Tr., Vol. 1, p. 9, L. 8-9. He protested that "we're not doing this to be spiteful; we're not doing this to be vengeful, we're trying to limit the issues that are going to be tried in the future." Tr., Vol. 1, p. 9, L. 14-16. The latter statement rang hollow and the former statement was not accurate, as both Dennis' <u>Verified</u> Petition on Counts 1-4, R. 16, and the Amended <u>Verified</u> Petition on Count 5, R. 79, sought criminal penalties.

The Magistrate correctly stated,

"The Court: ...it is my position that the Court cannot grant summary judgment of conviction on a criminal contempt...--because one of the rights the criminal

¹³ An unconditional penalty is a criminal contempt sanction. <u>State of Idaho Dept. of Health and</u> <u>Welfare v. Slane</u>, supra. In Dennis' Verified Motion for Contempt for Count 1 the penalty was not conditional, as he alleged "Plaintiff should be held in contempt for not paying the J.B. Landscape invoice in her name". Counts 2, 3, and 4 were not conditional as they all alleged that, Plaintiff should be held in contempt, for incurring credit charges and not timely paying charges (Count 2), that Plaintiff should be held in contempt for not paying, saving and defending and holding Defendant harmless from debts (Count 3), and that Plaintiff should be held in contempt for impairing Defendant's credit rating (Count 4). As regards Count 5 it read, "Plaintiff should be held in contempt for misappropriating an asset". All **of the foregoing penalties were criminal and unconditional**, and save no indication that conditional sanctions were sought. Moreover, if both civil and criminal relief are imposed in the same proceeding then the criminal feature of the Order is dominant and fixes its character for purposes of review. <u>State of Idaho Dept. of Health and Welfare v. Slane</u>, supra.

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